FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/16/2025
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED

Court of Appeals

Division |

State of Washington
10/23/2024 10:40 AM

COURT OF APPEALS,

DIVISION 1

OF THE STATE OF WASHTNCTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

V8.

PETER L. GARRIDO, Appellant

PETITION FOR REVIEW

COA.

No,

85119=~5-1

Peter L. Garrido,
DOC# 431005 _
Stafford Creek C. C.
191 Constantine Way
Aberdeen, WA 48520

Case #: 1037961



Lol 19, doat

Relin iwads” *45t005 o Mo, 8511951,
3.0.0.C. ,
1a4. CondanTul Wa?/

Quendom WA 48540
% Court of Qppatt | Disisin T -Albse o tathey

Qi Lthor o Ononoleol * lppoimation fon Clieal  grorssght. on
Mw‘@ @6 M%@MM CA&A\

Hebvone piee, fon the aspotmsnts naed i amy 308.

b7, - N

Jhe M@@Lm«?/ Chey oy /o1 e C@Uwe:@y citeol Mﬂ /%,u.@wdj

N anud f%’éaﬁ . V4 Omend Lot W&M anl add
6@% Quithar e Qountot mévuﬂfmd@} eg W redcssol
o Lhe WM & crvora by M Dudd  cowd ool prodecytipa .
The pewls L gt en amod alh Cas.  Llaw D am  Onpunclin
wehién W&Wégmydé@my Slake v. domshong  IF Wath 51 9) dlakev.
Kichman 159 Wn. 90 | g) Skate v, Done:g 144 Wa. heg. (im .&éuvog:)@m v.
Slate 13 va.boe), ) Skl y, Weber 159 un. igp 5) Pacs. Resvonint of G lasmang
;15 Wa. Q4 6) Sﬁ_\é- v. Davenpock loo wa 24, 757, 1\(2)_@_%@” v. Unided Skakeq

205 05 18§\ slae V. Watheo V6% W MR B, oW -

.%www& \
(elin thone s




* éh«umne»u%hﬂf ﬂlltiéy/'*

Cause # 85119--5-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGION STATE

DIVISION ONE

PETER GARRIDO,
Appellant,
vE,
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I. INTRODUCTION

I the appellant, Peter Garrido,_respectfully submit
that I have been prejudiced and denied the fundamental
rights to due process and a fair trial by the trial court
and prosecution. The proceedings in the Superior Court of
Washington in King County, stemming from my alleged conduct
of June 13, 2020 were conducted erroneously. With full
knowledge, the actions of the deputy prosecutor assigned to
my case, require vacation of my conviction and dismissal of
the underlying charges.

The state failed to obtain and provide discoverable
evidence that was material, and unlawfully suppressed other
evidence contrary to the state's narrative.

' In order to lower the state's burden, and to obstruct a
fair and just trial, the state also improperly influenced
the court to reject all legal remedies proposed by the
defense. The state's failure to pursue justice, and
vicariously by the trial court, was in violation of the
rules of professional conduct as well as the Sixth and

Fourteenth Amendments.




IT. STATEMENTSOF FACT

The Appellant stands convicted of one count of Assault
1st®, the alleged victim being a Mr. Hagsan. The Appellant

invoke® the affirmative defense of self-defense.

Mr, Hassan, by his own testimony, was irate at the time
of his incident with the Appellant, and was found by the
trial judge, the Hon. Mathew Segal, to have been
confrontational. He was also an active participant in the
dispute and the primary agressor: initiating the incident on
6/13/20 (as noted in the judge's Statement of Fact following
sentencing),

Witnesses Mike Banker, Kelsey Bingham, and as relayed
by the sworn testimony of Washington State Patrol Det. John
Ford, Gloria Thomas, all described Mr. Hassan to have been
enraged; committing various acts of felonious harassment
and/or assault. The record clearly shows that Mr. Hassan's
involvement in this matter was what primarily caused
numerous individuals to call 911 on the day in question.

The witness Mr. Banker stated that Mr. Hassan went to
the Appellant's car (a Mazda) and started "banging on the
left front quarter panel” before he was repelled
by Mr., Garrido. RP2 689:15-620:22. Ms., Ahmed (Hassan's

wife) also placed Mr. Hassan by the driver side door and



fender of the Mazda., RP2 653:12-654:20.

Mr. Banker affirmed the following: "Q: Do you remember
him [Mr. Hassanl] hitting the car? A: Yes". RP2 704:12-
704:13. He further establised Mr. Hassan gesturing at the
driver and attacking the the Appellant and/or Appellant's
car.

Ms. Ahmed also revealed (in conijunction with testimony
given in a defense counsel interview) the actual extent to
which Mr. Hassan approached the Appellant's car. RP2
671:21-672:22. She also confirmed having witnessed Mr.
Hassan's location when he was shot. RP2 674:1-4,

With respect to the missing material evidence (the
sweater), Mr. Hassan attested to the fact that his upper
garments were taken by the Washington State Patrol (WSP),
and that he was sent to the hospital without his upper
garments. RP2 568:1~-23.

The WSP contends that the officers  did “not
take custody of that clothing, despite it's apparent
usefulness as material evidence; testimony of Det. Early.
RP2 774 & 1033. He later ordered Mr. Hassan's clothing
collected and turned into evidence. 'That remaining clothing

was collected from the hospital two days later.,




Mr. Hassan insisted to being at least 6 feet away from
the Mazda at all times, even up to the point of the
shooting. Nevertheless, he later admitted to coming up to
the defendant's window. RP2 539:16-17, 538:18. Ms. Ahmed
contradicted her husband's testimony, andplaced Mr. Hassan
at the driver side door at the time of the shooting. Mr,
Hassan never admitted to (at any time) being less than 6 to
8 feet away from the Appellant's car. RP2 675:1-21.

Witness Kelsey Bingham (in the first trial) attested to
Mr. Hasgan's anger and menacing the defendant's vehicle that
mainly caused her to call 911 (RP 679:25-770:25, 772116~
773:4); noting the severity of the situation as a
professional psychiatric worker.

Dijana Coric, a WSP Crime Lab forensic expert assigned
to the case, also testified that the WSP had not obtained
the sweatshirt worn by Mr. Hassan. She testified that had
the sweatshirt been provided, she could have accurately and
scientifically determined the distance between the gun
muzzle and Mr. Hassan when he was shot. RP1l 901:1-902:25,

Matt Noedel, a WSP Crime Lab forensic expert also

testified to the standard nature and aceuracy of the test.




Gunshot residue testing, according to Mr. Noedel could
reveal absolute proof of the distance and path of a gunshot
to a target, from 4 to 6 feet away. RP2 1232:1»1237210.
The materiality of the missing upper garments is thus
clearly established and is necessary iﬁ.determining the
intént and efficagy of the crime charged. The missing
material evidence reveals the n@glectful-investigation by

WsP, and prejudiced the Appellant.




IIT. GROUNDS

GROUND 1
THE STATE VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT
RIGHT BY FAILING TO “PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT"

ALL ESSENTIAL ELEMENTS OF AJSAULT IN THE FIRST DEGREE
The mandate to prove beyond a reasonable deoubt all
facts necessary to congtitute the crime charged, is

guaranteed by due process, In re: Winship, 397 U.S. 358 364

25 L.Ed.2d; (IV Amendment U.S. Constitution: Const. Article
1, §3.)
Criminal assault requires unlawful force. Howell v,

Winters, 58 Wash 436 108 P.1077 (1910): State v. Rush 14

Wn.2d 138 127 P.2d 4121 (1942); State v. Stewert, 73 Wn.2d

701 440 P.24 815 (1968).
When a defense of self-~defense is entered, the

defendant negates an essential element of the crime. State

v, dcosta, 101 Wn.2d 612, 61%5 (1984)(cf. State v, McCullum,

98 Wn,2d 484, 490 (1983): State v. Hanton, 94 Wn.2d 129,

132, 614 P.2d 1280 cert. denied, 499 U.S. 1035, 66 L.Ed.2d
497, 101, s8.Ct, 611 (1980.)
The mens rea of Assault in the First Degree, is "with
intent to inflict great bedily harm”. RCW 94.36.011(1)(a).
Self-defense is defined by statute, RCW 9A.16.020(3).
The Supreme Court has held it is "impossible for one who
acts in self defense to be aware of the facts or

circumstances". State v. Acosta 101 Wn.2d @ 616.




In ¥cCullum the Supreme Court ruled "self defense

negates intent." Id. at 617 (citing State v. McCullum,

supra.)
“The burden to disprove self-defense is upon the state."”

State v. Leblame 34 Wn.App. 306, 660, P.2d 1142, review

denied 100 Wn.2d 1021 (1983.)

GROUND 2

THE STATE VIOLATED DUE PROCESE AND THE APPELLANT'S

SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT 1O NﬁTICF OF THE ELEMENTS

CHARGED, AND 70 OVERCOME THE NEGATION OF INTENT

An accuged has the constitutional right to know the
charges against them, VI Amendment U.S. Constitution: WA
Const. Article 1, § 3. To know the "nature and cause" of

the agcusation is a universal and elementary doictine.

Apprendi. v. New Jersey, 53 U.S. 466, 499, (2000)(citing

Herring v. New York, 422 U.S. 853m 857m (1975)).

Due process recquires a jury to find besyond a reasonable
doubt every fact necessary to constitute the crime. CrR

2.1(a)(1); Id. (citing In re: Winship, supra); & State v.

Kjorsvik, 117 Wn.2d 93 97 (1991); as well as State v,
Vangerpen 125 Wn.2d 782, 787 (1995)).
The essential element specifies "the very illegality of

behavior charged." Id. (citing State v. Johnson 119 Wn,2d




143, 147 (1992),(citing United States v. Cina, 699 F.2d 853

859 (7th Cir. 1983)).
The state was demanded to overcome the negation of

intent, thus notice of additional essential element was

demanded.

GROUND 3

THE TRIAL, COURT'S DENIAL OF A DISMISSAL, DUE TO FAILURE

BY THE STATE TO OBTAIN MATERTAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE,

DENIED THE DEFENDANT HIS SxXTWAND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT

RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW, AND A FAIR 'TRIAL.
The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments cuarantes the rights of
an accused, especially to that of a fair trial. Prior to
the second trial defense, counsel sought dismissal pursuant
to CrR #.3, due to the loss and failure to retrieve key
exculpatory evidence establishing self-defense.

Now, the Appellant arcues further that the denial of
the sweatshirt was an essential element needed by the state

to digprove self-defense beyond & reasonable doubt, pursuant

to RCW 9A.16.020.(3) & Wash. QPC .4 (d) & o4 5e4;




This evidence, if obtained or preserved, would have
proved material as 'inculpatory and exculpatory” in nature

as held in California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 497, 498.

Appellant objects to burdenshifting, and argues that
denial of and failure to preserve material evidence is in

violation of due process as held in Youngblood v. Arizonha

(488 U.s. 51), and serves to deny with its lack the ability
by the state to disprove self-~defense. As the article of
clothing was material and not replaceable in is weight to

any other inferences of evidence in this case.

THE TRTIAL COURT VIOLATED THE APPELLANT'S SIXTH

AMENDMENT RIGHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL.

On March 1, 2021, the trial court entered an order of
continuance, ¢P-23. Councel filed a notice of appearance on
March 5, 2021, Cp-25.

The time to trial expiration date was met on June 30,
2021. In conjunction with CrR 3.3(b)(2); IV Amendment U.S.
Constitution & Washington Const. Article 1 § 3.

No valid resetting of the commencement date is listed

on the Index of records to this case. The court thus erred,




for mmdane and/or routine reasons, and allowed the trial to

be ﬁelayad in vielation of due process and procedure as

outlined in State v. Kenyon, 167 Wn.2d.130. The delay of
triai was in particular daﬁaging‘t@ Appellant, leaving him
in legal jeopardy mmﬁ unab1a to live life at ease due to the
durass a serious trial imparts on a defendant.

A1l actions after Jun 30, 2021 violated Appmllant's

rights to a speedy trial.

10




GROUND 5

THE STATE COMMITTED MALICIOUS PROSECUTION THROUGH

BREACH OF PROFESSIONAL & CONSTITUTIONAL RESPONSIBILITY

AS OFFICERS OF THE COURT.

A prosecution should be based on probative evidence and
sound reason. A prosecutor must act with impartiality and

in the interest of promoting justice. State v. Thorgersen

172 Wn.2d 438 & State v. Thierry 190 Wn.App. 680.

Doctrine on due process and fair trial is violated
anytime the state seeks convietion on arbitrary and
capricious grounds. The State acted on obstinate reason, to
incite the passions and prejudices of a jury; It presented
inflammatory arguments and and conjecture ali throughout the

trial and in closing arguments. In State v. Castenda-Pereyz

61 Wn.App. 353 & State v, Huson 13 Wn.2d. 660, the court

affirmed that "the prosecutor should not use arguments
calculated to inflame the passions or prejudices of [al
Jury”.

The State made unceasing inflammatory remarks with
reckless disregard, beyond the remedy of any curative
instruction., In cross-examination of the witness PhD.
Gerloch the state asked the witness if she knew that Mr.
Hassan was black, as this must have provided the bhasis of

issues with the Appellant.



The prosecution further alleged that the Appellant was
dishonest; acted with malicious intent, knowledge of
criminality, and superficiality of public service when he
failed to call 911, in direct conflict of the right to
silence under the Fifth Amendment. The state committed
poiénant and deliberate character assassination to
improperly prompt conviction by way of outrage instead of
what might be seen as material inculpatory evidence.

The state improperly acted as a witness and juror in
it's closing arguments when it claimed that the Defendant
was being untruthful and merely mirroring the testimony of
other witnesses. This was contrary to the Rules of

Evidqug/Crihinal Proceedings, the Washington Rv\&s of

PevCessional Conduct B.4 ¢f. geq, State v. Jones 13 Wn.App. 2d,

Statev, Fuller 169 Win.App 797, State v. Monday 171, State

V. Reed 102 Wn.2d 140, State v. Case 49 Win.2d 66, & State

v. Venegas 155, 507.

The remedy for prosecutorial misconduct is reversal of

the conviction and remand for retrial. In light of
flagrant and deliberate misconduct, the appellant moves the

court, for reversal of conviction, and for dismissal under

1.



malicious prosecution standards. Since the State therefore
violated due process, professional conduct oaths and fair

trial procedures , as are outlined in Dovle v, Ohio 426

U.S. 610 499, CrR 8.3(b), State v. Miles 73 67, State v.

Lindsay 180 423, state v. Pete 152 546, & State v.

Montgomery 163 Wn.2d.

13




IV. CONCLUSION

With full knowledge and lack of material evidence, and
based on unreliable information provided by their main
witnesses, the state nevertheless brought charges. The
WSP failed to obtain key material evidence. Because the
evidence was clearly exculpatory in nature, the lack of this
evidence constitutes prejudicial error. The trial court
thus erred in its failure to dismiss based on the grounds
specified in the defense memorandum of 11/9/22.

The Appellant is entitled to relief under the

cumulative error doctrine, Brady v. Maryland, and Youngblood

V. Arizona. A retrial or dismissal is required pursuant to
CrR 8.3(b); The prosecution deliberately and consistently
failed to seek justice, committed misconduct, and cannot

disprove self-~defense beyond a reasonable doubt,

na*h
Signed and respectfully submitted this 29 day of

March, 2024, in Aberdeen, Washington.

by: C7

Pefert
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10/7/2024
Court of Appeals
Division |
State of Washington

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
No. 85119-5-|
Respondent,
DIVISION ONE
V.
UNPUBLISHED OPINION
PETER LEWIS-FERNANDO GARRIDO,

Appellant.

CHUNG, J. — Peter Garrido appeals his conviction for assault in the first
degree with a firearm enhancement. Garrido claimed self-defense. On appeal,
Garrido alleges the trial court violated his right to present a defense by excluding
evidence relating to the victim’s prior convictions and that it erred in declining
proposed defense instructions regarding firearm rights and missing evidence.
Garrido also asks us to remand for the trial court to strike the Victim Penalty
Assessment (VPA) imposed at sentencing. And he presents a statement of
additional grounds for review (SAG). We affirm Garrido’s conviction, but remand
to the trial court to strike the VPA from his judgment and sentence.

FACTS

The State charged Garrido with assault in the first degree with a firearm
enhancement for shooting Abdifatah Hassan during a road rage incident.
Garrido’s first trial resulted in a hung jury. At retrial, withesses testified to the

following events.




No. 85119-5-1/2

On June 13, 2020, around midday, Garrido was driving his black Mazda
southbound on Interstate 5 (I-5) near Federal Way. Hassan, aécompanied by his
wife and their fthree-year-old son, was driving his black BMW.

According to Garrido, the altercation began when he and Hassan tried to
merge into the same lane at the same time, causing Hassan to “become
eqraged.” Hassan and Hassan’s wife were screaming and “giving [him] the
finger.” Garrido spéed up in an attempt to get away, but Hassan chased him,
threw things at his car, and “purposely tapped” the rear end of Garrido’s car with
his car. Hassan gestured for him to pull over, and Garrido did so. Garrido testified
that Hassan ran to Garrido’s car and tried to open the driver’s side door, but it
was locked. Hassan gestured to Garrido to get out of the car. Garrido said he
lowered his driver’s side window to talk, but before he could speak, Hassan
struck him on the side of the head with his fist. Garrido said he grabbed his gun
from the glove box and “showed itto [Hassan] in the hopes that he would back
away,” but Hassan “came at [him] again” so Garrido shot once, aiming for
Hassan’s arm. Garrido asserted that there was no other way to get Hassan to
stop the attack. Garrido did not see blood, so he assumed the bullet missed and
proceeded to drive to his girlfriend’s house in Auburn.

Hassan'’s version of events differed sign'ificantly from Garrido’s. According
to Hassan, the altercation began when Garrido “basically swerved onto s to
overtake us.” This caused Hassan to spill his tea, which upset him. Garrido
” “flipped us off and then startgd brake-checking us” and threw objects at Hassan’s

car. Hassan admitted that he responded by throwing a water bottle at Garrido’s
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car, but denied that his car contacted Garrido’s car at any time during the
incident.

Hassan pulled over to the side of the freeway in an attempt to “de-escalate
the situation and be done with it,” but Garrido pulled over and parked behind him.
Hassan thought Garrido was getting out of his car, so he decided to walk towards
Garrido’s car to keep Garrido away from his family. As Hassan approached,
Garrido laughed and held up his phone to take a photograph. Hassan
approached the driver’s side window and asked, “What is the matter with you?”.
Garrido then grabbed his gun and shot Hassan. Hassan testified he was stah’difng
about six feet away from Garrido when he was shot, and he denied hitting
Garrido or reaching into Garrido’s car. It is undisputed that Hassan was una&ned
and did not have anything in his hands during the incident. Garrido “flipp[ed]-:
[Hassan] off” and drove away from the scene. |

Hassan’s wife Jowharaay Ahmed testified that the incident began whén
Hassan was forced to swerve to avoid being struck by Garrido’s car. She said -
Hassan pulled over and went to the Mazda “so that way he doesn’t come to us.”
Ahmed testified that at the time of the shooting, Hassan Was' located “on the side
front fender of the Mazda, the driver’s side” and agreed that it appeared Hassan
was “standing right outside the driver’s side window.” She could not recall
whether she was still inside the car when the shot was fired. Ahmed said neither

she nor her husband was armed with anything or had a firearm in their car. She

said Garrido “flipp[ed] [her] off” as he drove away.
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Several other eyewitnesses who observed the altercation also testified at
trial. Kelsey Bingham said she saw two cars driving aggressively and later saw
the same cars parked on the shoulder, with the driver of the front car walking
towards the driver of the back car and putting his hands on the driver’s door.
Melanie Johns testified that she saw both cars driving erratically. Later, she saw
the cars parked on the shoulderwi.th two men standing outside when one
suddenly “flew back” as if injured. And Michael Banker testified that he saw a
water bottle thrown from é BMW at a Mazda, then the Mazda sped away with the
BMW in pursuit. The cars were both passing other cars, and then, neér the 320th
exit, the BMW pulled over, followed by the Mazda. The driver of the BMW got out
of his car, approached the Mazda, which was behind the BMW, and started
“hitting the vehicle front left quarter panel.” The driver of the Mazda, still sitting in
the driver’s seat, then “raise[d] something black” and Banker heard a “loud
sound.” Banker said he “saw distance” between the men and that he did not see
the driver of the BMW punch the driver of the Mazda.

The bullet enteréd on the left side of Hassan’s abdomen below the rib
cage and exited on the right side. After being shot, Hassan first “ran to [a] ditch
for safety,” and after Garrido drove off, Hassan got in his car. His wife was
already on the phone with 911. Responding officers and Hassan's wife removed
Hassan’s upper garments before medics arrived at the scene and transported
him to Harborview Medical Center.

Police ran the Iicense plate of the Mazda and determined that the owner

was Garrido, a Seattle Police Department records technician who h‘eld a valid
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concealed weapons permit. Garrido’s supervisor indicated that he called out sick
roughly an hour and a half after the shooting. Garrido was arrested at home two

days after the incident. Police recovered the handgun used in the shooting from

Garrido’s bedroom and a single fired shell from the back seat of his car.

Garrido admitted that after the incident he removed the front and rear
license plates from his car and stored them in the trunk, but claimed that he did
so out of fear that Hassan might have his license plate number and could find
him to retaliate. Garrido also admitted that he did not call 911 or report the
incident, but explained that he didn’t think the bullet hit Hassan and he wanted to
seek legal help before speaking with police “because of myself being Black and
Latino.” The defense also presented the testimony of Dr. April Gerlock, a
psychiatric nurse practitioner who opined Garrido suffered from post-traumatic
stress disorder (PTSD) based on past traumatic events and that his PTSD
impacted his behavior after the confrontation with Hassan.

The jury convicted Garrido as charged. Garrido appealed.

DISCUSSION

Garrido raises several issues on appeal. He argues the trial court violated
his right to present a defense and that it erred in failing to give certain proposed
instructions. He also challenges the VPA imposed at sentencing. And he assigns
additional errors in a SAG.

l. Right to Present a Defense

Garrido argues the trial court deprived him of his right to present a

defense by excluding evidence regarding Hassan’s prior acts and convictions to
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impeach his credibility. We disagree that the exclusion of this evidence was
constitutional error.

The United States and Washington State Constitutions do not mention a
right to present a defense; a claim of a violation of this right is more appropriately
classified as a violation of a defendant’s right to confront the witnesses against

him or her. See State v. Ritchie, 24 Wn. App. 2d 618, 628 n.3, 520 P.3d 1105

(2022) (citing U.S. CONST. amend. VI; CONST. art. I, § 22). The right to present
testimony and evidence in one’s own defense is not vi/ithout limitation. State v.
Orn, 197 Wn.2d 343, 352,482 P.3d 913 (2021). “[T]he Constitution permits
judges to exclude evidence that is repetitive ... only marginally relevant or poses
an undue risk of harassment, prejudice, [or] confusion of the issues.” Orn, 197

Whn.2d at 352 (quoting Holmes v. S. Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 326-27, 126 S. Ct.

1727, 164 L. Ed. 2d 503 (2006)) (alterations in original). Significantly, there is a
“distinction between evidence that merely bolsters credibility and evidence that is
necessary to present a defense. State v. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d 53, 66-67, 502
P.3d 1255 (2022).

To determine whether the trial court denied Garrido’s right to present a
defense, we apply a two-part test. Id. at 58. We first review the challenged
evidentiary ruling for abuse of discretion. Id. at 58-59. A trial court abuses its

discretion if no reasonable person would take the view it adopted. State v. Hall

112 Wn. App. 164, 169-70, 48 P.3d 350 (2002). If we find no abuse of discretion,

we then consider de novo whether the exclusion of evidence violated the
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defendant’s constitutional right to present a defense. Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 58-
59.

To support his theory of self-defense, Garrido sought to introduce
evidence to impeach Hassan’s credibility. First, he offered evidence regarding
Hassan’s 2008 conviction for breach of the peace following a car accident in
which witnesses stated Hassan assaulted the other driver and said, “I'm gonna
fuck you up, bitch. | should fucking kill you, bitch.” Second, Garrido offered
evidence that in 2009, Hassan pleaded guilty to vehicle prowl in the second
degree for stealing financial vouchers from his employer, a car dealer. In 2013,
the conviction was vacated after Hassan falsely informed the sentencing court
that he had attended the University of Washington (UW) on a “full ride
scholarship” and graduated at the top of his class in 2012. Additionally, Garrido
sought to introduce evidence that Hassan’s October 2021 defense interview
contained false or misleading statements regarding the events underlying his
prior convictions, including his claims regarding the UW. Garrido argued that this
evidence supported his argument that Hassan’s attack put him in reasonable fear
that he would be harmed if he did not defend himself.

Garrido does not argue an abuse of discretioa in the trial court’s
application of the rules of evidence, and we find none. The trial court ruled that
Hassan’s prior convictions were inadmissible under ER 609, ER 404(a), and ER

405." The court did, however, permit cross-examination under ER 608(b) as to

T The court also ruled that evidence of Hassan's prior convictions was inadmissible under
ER 404(b), which provides that “[e]vidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to
prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.” Because ER

7
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Hassan’s false representation to the court in his vehicle prowl case that he
attended and graduated from the UW.

ER 609(a) allows admission of prior convictions for the limited purpose of
impeaching a witness if the crime was punishable by more than one year of
imprisonment and the court determines that the probative value outweighs the
prejudicial effect, or if the crime involved dishonesty or false statement. Such
evidence is presumptively inadmissible for impeachment purposes if the
convictioné are more than 10 years old unless the proponent ovércomes the
presumption with specific facts and circumstances establishing that the probative
value of the conviction substanﬁally outweighs its prejudicial effect. ER 609(b);

State v. Jones, 117 Wn. App. 221, 232, 70 P.3d 171 (2003). Here, the court

noted that breach of peace was not a crime of dishonesty. Further, it ruled that
“[e]ven assuming that vehicle prowl in the second degree is a crime of dishonesty
(and the Court is not aware of any authority holding that it is), neither conviction
was punishable by imprisonment of more than one year, both convictions are
more than ten years old, and their probative vaiue does not substantially
'outweigh their prejudicial effect.” The court did not abuse its discretion in
excluding this evidence under ER 609.

While ER 404(a) generally prohibits admission of character evidence for
the purptsse of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, an
exception to this rule is that “[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the

victim of the crime offered by an accused” is admissible. ER 404(a)(2). Thus, a

404(a) specifically addresses when character evidence about a victim may be admissible, this
analysis was unnecessary.
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defendant may introduce evidence of the victim’s violent disposition to show the

victim acted in a violenf manner at the time of the crime. State v. Hutchinson, 135

Whn.2d 863, 886, 959 P.2d 1061 (1998), abrogated on other grounds by State v.

Jackson, 195 Wn.2d 841, 467 P.3d 97 (2020). Specifically, as here, when the
defendant claims self-defense and raises the issue of whether the victim was the
first aggressor, evidence of the victim’s violent disposition is relevant. See State

v. Alexander, 52 Wn. App. 897, 900, 765 P.2d 321 (1988). However, evidence of

a character trait such as a victim’s violent disposition “must be in the form of

reputation evidence, not evidence of specific acts.” Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at

886 (citing ER 404(a)(2); ER 405(a)).

On the other hand, a party may use sp\ecific acts to prove character if the
pertinent character trait “is an essential element of a charge, claim, or defense,”
ER 405(b). But specific act character evidence of-a victim’s propensity for

violence is not an essential element of self-defense. Hutchinson, 135 Wn.2d at

886-87.

Here, as the trial court noted, Garrido did not seek to introduce reputation
evidence about Hassan and could “not introduce specific instances of conduct
under a first aggressor theory.” Nor were Hassan’s prior convictions admissible
to show Garrido’s state of mind when the incident occurred, i.e., a reasonable
fear of bodily harm, as Garrido did not know about them at the time of the
shooting.? The court did not err in excluding evidence of Hassan'’s prior

convictions to impeach Hassan’s credibility under ER 404(a) and ER 405.

2 Another permissible purpose for admitting evidence of a victim’s prior violent acts is to
show the defendant’s state of mind at the time of the crime and to indicate whether the defendant

9
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Having concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by
excluding the prior acts evidence through which Garrido sought to impeach
Hassan, next, we review .de novo whether the exclusion of this proffered
evidence nevertheless violated Garrido’s right to present a defense. “The second
step in our analysis requires us to examine whether the trial court’s ruling,
despite being a proper application of the evidentiary rules, nonetheless runs afoul
of either the state or federal constitutions.” Ritchie, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 628. In
evaluating a defendant’s right to present a defense, our “pertinent concern” is

“whether both parties receive a fair trial.” |d. at 634 (citing State v. Darden, 145

Whn.2d 612, 622, 41 P.3d 1189 (2002)). This concern “is heightened when a new
or antiquated rule appears to threaten the defendant’s right to a fair trial,” but
where the applied rule is a “well-established, commonly utilized rule that has
been applied time and again without any demonstrated detriment to the fairness

of proceedings,” the concern is not paramount. Ritchie, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 634-

35. As we explained in Ritchie,

“At its core, the constitutional right to present a defense ensures the
defendant has an opportunity to defend against the State’s
accusations.” Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 66, 502 P.3d 1255. But “the
Confrontation Clause guarantees only ‘an opportunity for effective
cross-examination, not cross-examination that is effective in
whatever way, and to whatever extent, the defense might wish.’”
Kentucky v. Stincer, 482 U.S. 730, 739, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L. Ed.
2d 631 (1987) (quoting Delaware v. Fensterer, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106
S. Ct. 292, 88 L. Ed. 2d 15 (1985)). Accordingly, when the

had reason to fear bodily harm. State v. Cloud, 7 Wn. App. at 218. Such evidence is relevant only
if the defendant knew of the acts before committing the crime. State v. Duarte Vela, 200 Wn. App.
306, 326, 402 P.3d 281 (2017) (“It is well established that a victim's specific acts of violence, if
known by the defendant, are admissible when the defendant asserts self-defense.”); Cloud, 7 Wn.
App. at 218. Here, not only did Garrido not know of the prior convictions at the time he shot
Hassan, but-also, he sought to admit Hassan’s prior convictions for the purpose of impeaching
Hassan's credibility, not for the purpose of showing his own state of mind.

10
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defendant has an opportunity to present his theory of the case, the
exclusion of some aspects of the defendant’s proffered evidence
will not amount to a violation of the defendant’s constitutional rights.
Jennings, 199 Wn.2d at 66, 502 P.3d 1255. To be sure, “[t]he ability
of the defendant to achieve through other means the effect that the
excluded examination allegedly would have produced is a factor
indicating that his right to confrontation was not violated.” United
States v. Drapeau, 414 F.3d 869, 875 (8th Cir. 2005).

24 \Wn. App. 2d at 635.

Garrido asserts that the applicable rules of evidence should give way to
his constitutional right to present a defense under the unique facts of this case.
Specifically, he points to conflicting eyewitness testimony regarding the distance
between Garrido and Hassan at the time of the shooting and the State’s failure to
preserve Hassan’s sweatshirt, which could have helped the jury to determine the
distance. Garrido contends that because credibility was the primary contested
issue at trial, evidence impeaching Hassan'’s credibility—including Hassan’s
behavior toward another driver under similar circumstances and Hassan’s
willingness to lie in legal proceedings—was relevant and necessary for him to
present his defense.

We disagree. The trial court excluded evidence of Hassan’s prior
convictions pursuant to “well-established, commonly utilized rule[s] that ha[ve]
been applied time and again without any demonstrated detriment to the fairness
of proceedings.” Ritchie, 24 Wn. App. 2d at 634-35.'Moreover, Garrido was able
to point to evidence supporting his argument that Hassan’s version of events was
not credible. Although Hassan testified that he never touched Garrido’s car and
was standing six feet away when he was shot, two of the three eyewitnesses

who observed the altercation testified that Hassan made physical contact with

11
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Garrido’s car near the driver’s side window. And on cross-examination, Hassap’s
wife agreed thatit appeared Hassan was “standing right outside the driver’s side
window.” Additionally, the trial court allowed Garrido to impeach Hassan’s
credibjlity with evidence that Hassan falsely claimed to have attended the UW
and other related misrepresentations, and Garrido elicited tvhis information on

' cross-examination. Wg—:\‘therefore conclude that the trial court’s evidentiary rulings
regarding Hassan’s prior convictions and misrepresentations during his 2021
defense interview were piroper applications of well-establisheo_l rules and did not
violate Garrido’s right to present a defense.

[l. Proposed Jury Instructions

Garrido contends the trial court erred in not accepting his proposed set of
jury instructions regarding his right to carry a firearm and his proposed “missing
evidence” instruction. We disagree.

“Jury instructions are genérally sufficient where they are supported by
substantial evidence, properly state the law, and allow the parties an op/portunity

to satisfactorily argue their theories of the case.” State v. Espinosa, 8 Wn. App.

2d 353, 360-61, 438 P.3d 583 (2019) (citing State v. Clausing, 147 \Wn.2d 620,

626, 56 P.3d 550 (2002)). “A defendant in a criminal case is entitled to have the

jury fully instructed on the defense theory of the case.” State v. Staley, 123
Wn.2d 794, 803, 872 P.2d 502 (1994)).
This court evaluates each jury instruction in the context of the instructions

as a whole. State v. Henderson, 192 Wn.2d 508, 512, 430 P.3d 637 (2018). “A

trial court’s refusal to give instructions to a jury, if based on a factual dispute, is

12
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reviewable only for abuse of discretion.” State v. Walker, 136 Wn.2d 767, 771-72,

966 P.2d 883 (1998). The trial court’s refusal to give an instruction based upon a

ruling of law is reviewed de novo. State v. Sullivan, 196 Wn. App. 277, 291, 383

P.3d 574 (2016).

A. Self-Defense Instructions

Garrido proposed standard self-defense instructions requiring the
prosecutor to disprove self-defense, which the trial court allowed. However,
Garrido claims the trial court erred in refusing to give the following proposed
instructions regarding his firearm rights:

The United States Constitution protects an individual’s right to carry
a handgun for self-defense outside the home.

A holder of a Washington State concealed pistol license is

permitted to carry a pistol concealed on their person for the

purposes of protection or while engaged in business, sport, or while

traveling.

A person licensed to carry a concealed pistol may lawfully carry a

loaded pistol in a vehicle so long as the pistol is on the licensee’s

person or the licensee is within the vehicle at all times that the

pistol is there.

A person acting for the purpose of protecting himself against the

use of presently threatened unlawful force by another may carry,

exhibit, display, or draw a firearm.

Garrido argues the proposed instructions were needed to make clear that
his possession of a concealed loaded firearm in his car and his decision to
display the firearm as an act of self-defense were lawful and could not be used
as a basis to defeat his self-defense claim. We disagree. The issue at trial was

Garrido’s unlawful use of his firearm, not his possession. Garrido was permitted

to, and did, present evidence that he lawfully purchased his firearm and that he
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had a concealed pistol license that entitled him to lawfully carry it. And Garrido
presents no authority for the proposition that his proposed instructions were
required. The pattern self-defense instructions given by the trial court properly
stated the law and allowed Garrido to argue his theory of the case.

B. Missing Evidence Instruction

Garrido next argues that the trial court erred by refusing to give his |
proposed “missing evidence” instruction regarding the sweatshirt Hassan was
wearing when he was shot. We disagree.

“The missing evidence instruction is a permissive inference instruction that
informs the jury that ‘where evidence which would properly be part of a case is |
within the control of the party whose interest it would naturally be to produce it,
and, ... he fails to do _so,—the jury may draw an inference that it would be

unfavorable to him.”” ‘Stavte v. Derri, 17 Wn. App. 2d 376, 404, 486 P.3d 901

(2021) (alteration in original) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting State v.

Blair, 117 Wn.2d 479, 485-86, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)), aff'd but criticized, 199

Whn.2d 658, 511 P.3d 1267 (2022). The missing evidence instruction applies

I

where evidence “ ‘is within the control of the party whose interest it would
naturally be to produce it.” ” Derri, 17 Wn. App. at 404 (internal quotation marks
omitted) (quoting Blair, 117 Wn.2d at 485-86). The instruction is not warranted
when fhe evidence is unimportant, merely cur'nulatilve, or when its absence is
satisfact&rily explained. DLfri, 17 Wn. App. 2d at 404.

Police collected Hassan'’s clothes from the hospital as evidence. None of

Hassan’s upper garments, including a black sweatshirt he was wearing during

14




No. 85119-5-1/15

the incident, were among the items collected. Two defense experts testified at
trial that clothing can be examined for gunshot residue to determine the distance
from the target to the muzzle of the gun when it was fired.

The issue of the missing sweatshirt was initially raised by the defense
after the first trial in a CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss based on prosecutorial
misconduct for the State’s failure to collect and preserve the sweatshirt. The
court denied the motion, concluding that the exculpatory value of the sweatshirt
‘was not apparent at the scene,” there was no evidence of bad faith by the State,
and the sweatshirt would have been cumulative of evidence regarding how far
Hassan was from Garrido when he was shot. At the conclusion of evidence in the
second trial, the defense proposed a missing evidence instruction regarding the
sweatshirt, which the court denied on the basis that the sweatshirt “was not
particularly within the control of the State” and it was “undisputed” that the
sweatshirt went missing because it was removed from Hassan'’s body by
responders who provided medical assistance.

Garrido asserts that the court erred in refusing to give a missing evidence
instruction because Hassan’s upper garments were exclusively within the State’s
control when removed from Hassan’s body, yet responding officers “failed to
collect and preserve them for the investigation.” He further contends that the
missing sweatshirt was important material evidence because it could have been
tested for gunshot residue to determine whether or not Hassan was within arm’s

reach of the gun when the shot was fired.
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shooting. Garrido acknowledges that the responding officers’ failure to collect the
sweatshirt was “likely a mere oversight.” Garrido was able to present comparable
evidence to what he claims the gunshot residue might have shown, i.e., the
distance between the target (Hassan) and the muzzle of Garrido’s gun, as
multiple witnesses testified regarding the distance between Hassan and Garrido
when Hassan was shot. And Garrido was able to argue that the absence of the
sweatshirt showed a lack of evidence under the reasonable doubt standard.
Garrido has not established that he was entitled to a missing evidence jury
instruction.

M. Victim Penalty Assessment

Garrido was ordered to pay the VPA pursuant to RCW 7.68.035 at the
time of his sentencing. Under RCW 7.68.035(4), which became effective in July
2023, trial courts are required to waive the VPA if a defendant is indigent as
defined in RCW 10.01.160(3). This court has applied this waiver to cases

pending direct appeal when the law went into effect. See State v. Ellis, 27 Whn.

App. 2d 1, 16, 530 P.3d 1048 (2023) (citing State v. Ramirez, 191 Wn.2d 732,

748-49, 426 P.3d 714 (2018)).

The court found Garrido indigent when it sentenced him, and his direct
appeal was pending when the law went into effect. The State does not object to
réemand to strike the VPA from Garrido’s judgment and sentence. We accept the

State’s concession and remand for the superior court to strike the VPA.
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“To protect a defendant’s due process rights, the State has a duty to

preserve and disclose exculpatory evidence.” State v. Koeller, 15 Wn. App. 2d

245, 252,477 P.3d 61 (2020). But the State does not have “ ‘an undifferentiated
and absolute duty to retain a|l1d to preserve all material that might be of
conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution.’ ” State v.
Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d 467, 475, 880 P.2d 517 (1994) (quoting Arizona v,
Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988)). Rather,
“‘[tIhe State’s duty extends only to material exculpatory evidence and to
‘potentially useful’ evidence destroyed in bad faith by the State.” Koeller, 15 Whn.

App. 2d at 252 (quoting State v. Armstrong, 188 Wn.2d 333, 345, 394 P.3d 373

(2017)). “In order to be considered ‘material exculpatory evidence’, the evidence
must both possess an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was
destroyed and be of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain
comparable evidence by other reasonably available means.” Wittenbarger, 124

Wn.2d at 475 (quoting California v. Trombetta, 467 U.S. 479, 489, 104 S. Ct.

2528, 81 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1984)). The presence or absence of bad faith turns “ ‘on
the police’s knowledge of the exculpatory value of the evidence at the time it was

lost or destroyed.’ ” State v. Groth, 163 Wn. App. 548, 558, 261 P.3d 183 (2011)

(quoting Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 56).

| Garrido has not shown that the police had a duty to collect the sweatshirt
after it was removed frorh Hassan’s body. As the trial court noted in denying
Garrido’s CrR 8.3(b) motion to dismiss, the exculpatory value of the sweatshirt

would not have been reasonably-apparent to officers responding to a freeway
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V. Statement of Additional Grounds

In his SAG, Garrido alleges insufficiency of the evidence, violation of his
right to notice of the elements charged, error based on missing evidence,
violation of his speedy trial rights, and prosecutorial misconduct. None of these
additional grounds warrants appellate relief.3

A. Sufficiency of the Evidence

Garrido argues the evidence was insufficient to convict him because the
State failed to disprove his claim of self-defense. A claim of insufficiency “admits
the truth of the State’s evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn

therefrom.” State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). All

reasonable inferences must be interpreted in favor of the State and most strongly
against the defendant. |d. Additionally, an appellate court must defer to the trier
of fact on issues of conflicting testimony, witness credibility, and persuasiveness

of the evidence. State v. Fiser, 99 Wn. App. 714, 719, 995 P.2d 107 (2000).

Assault in the first degree required the State to prove that Garrido, with
intent to inflict great bodily harm, assaulted Hassan with a firearm. RCW

9A.36.011(1)(a). Because a person acting in self-defense is acting lawfully, proof

3 After the parties’ briefing was complete, Garrido filed a motion to supplement the
appellate record underRAP 9.10 to include “all clerk’s papers,” “all exhibits,” “all verbatim [repori] -
of proceedings,” and “all discovery regarding the probable cause and information.” He contends
that “[clounsel’s designation omits key parts of the record needed to adjudicate this matter as
briefed in the Statement of Additional Grounds.” However, Garrido has not indicated how these
additional records would be helpful for review. Even though appellants are not required to cite to
the record or authority in their SAG, they must still “inform the court of the nature and occurrence
of [the] alleged errors,” and this court is not required to search the record to find support for the
defendant’s claims. RAP 10.10(c); State v. Meneses, 149 Wn. App. 707, 716, 205 P.3d 916
(2009). And as Garrido's counsel noted in a letter attached to Garrido’s motion, discovery
m aterials that were not introduced at trial cannot be used to support any claims on direct appeal.
The motion is denied.
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of self-defense negates the intent element of assault. State v. Brown, 94 Whn.

App. 327,343 n4, 972 P.2d 112 (1999). When raised by a defendant, the State
must disprove self-defense as part of its burden to prove beyond a reasonable

doubt that the defendant committed the offense charged. State v. Meza, 26 Whn.

App. 2d 604, 620, 529 P.3d 398 (2023). “Evidence of self-defense is evaluated
‘from the standpoint of the reasonably prudent person, knowing all the defendant

knows and seeing all the defendant sees.’ ” State v. Walden, 131 Wn.2d 469,

474,932 P.2d 1237 (1997) (quoting State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 238, 850

P.2d 495 (1993)). Reasonable force in self-defense is justified where there is an

appearance of imminent danger. State v. Bradley, 141 Wn.2d 731, 737, 10 P.3d

358 (2000). The degree of force used is limited to what a reasonably prudent
person would find necessary under the conditions as they appeared to the
defendant. Walden, 131 Wn.2d at 474.

To refute the claim of self-defense, the State provided evidence that the
force used was more than necessary in light of the apparent danger. It is
undisputed that Hassan was unarmed when he approached Garrido’s car and
that Garrido rolled down his window and shot Hassan. And in challenging
Garrido’s credibility, the State pointed out that Garrido fled the scene without
calling 911, removed his license plates after the shooting, and that no evidence
- corroborated his claim that Hassan punched him in the head. Viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the jury had sufficient evidence
to refute Garrido’s self-defense claim and to find that by shooting Hassan,

Garrido committed assault in the first degree.
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B. Right to Notice

Garrido argues he was deprived of his constitutional right to notice of the
charges agéinst him because the information failed to allege that the State had
“overcome the negation of intent.” Garrido is incorrect. An information is
constitutionally defective if it fails to list the essential elements of a crime. State v.
Zillyette, 178 Wn.2d 153, 158, 307 P.3d 712 (2013). But lack of self-defense is
not an essential statutory element that must be alleged in the charging

document. See State v. McCullum, 98 Wn.2d 484, 493, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983)

(interpreting statutory language changes in homicide and self-defense statutes
as evidence of legislature’s intent “to relieve the prosecution of the necessity of
pleading the absence of self-defense”). Rather, “the absence of self-defenée
becomes another element of the offense which the State must prove beyond a
reasonable doubt.” |d. at 493-94. Garrido received the notice to which he was
entitled.

C. Missing Evidence

Qarrido argues that the trial court erred in denying his CrR 8.3(b) motion
to dismiss based on the missing sweatshirt. He contends the sweatshirt
constituted material exculpatory evidence and that the State’s failure to preserve
it violated his due process rights.

We review a trial court’s CrR 8.3(b) ruling for abuse of discretion. State v.

Michielli, 132 Wn.2d 229, 240, 937 P.2d 587 (1997). Relief under CrR 8.3(b)

requires a showing of arbitrary action or governmental misconduct and that such

action prejudiced the defendant’s right to a fair trial. State v. Brooks, 149 Wn.
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App. 373, 384, 203 P.3d 397 (2009). As discussed above, the sweatshirt was not
material exculpatory evidence that the State had a duty to collect. The court did
not abuse its discretion in refusing to dismiss Garrido’s case on this basis.

D. Speedy Trial

Garrido argues that the trial court violated his CrR 3.3 speedy trial rights.
He asserts that the speedy trial period expired on June 30, 2021, and that “no
valid resetting of the commencement date is listed on the index of records to this
case.”

Our criminal rules require that the trial of an accused who remains in jail
after arrest must commence within 60 days of arraignment. CrR 3.3(b)(1)(i). The
rules also exclude periods of time for various reasons. CrR 3.3(e). To preserve a
claim for a speedy trial rule violation, the defendant must timely object to the
setting of a trial that is outside of the speedy trial period. CrR 3.3(d)(4). The
record before us does not show a speedy trial objection,* so Garrido has waived
any claimed violation of the rule.

E. Prosecutorial Misconduct

Garrido argues that prosecutorial misconduct deprived him of a fair trial.
We review statements in a prosecutor’s closing arguments in the context of the
issues in the case, the total argument, the evidence addressed in the argument,

and the jury instructions. State v. Boehning, 127 Wn. App. 511, 519, 111 P.3d

4 To the extent that Garrido’s claim may rest on matters outside the record, the issue may
not be considered on direct appeal, but rather may be raised in a properly supported personal
restraint petition. State v. McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 338 n.5, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). As noted
above, though Garrido moved to supplement the record, he did not identify specific portions that
would support this (or any other) claim, and this court is not required to search the record for such
support. RAP 10.10(c).
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899 (2005). The defendant bears the burden of proving that the prosecutor’s

alleged misconduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Emery, 174

Whn.2d 741, 756, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). The failure to object to an improper
remark constitutes a waiver of error unless it is so flagrant and ill-intentioned that

it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been

neutralized by an admonition to the jury. State v. Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d 438,
443, 258 P.3d 43 (2011).

“Mere appeals to jury passion and prejudice, ... are inappropriate.” State
v. Belgarde, 110 Wn.2d 504, 507, 755.P.2d 174 (1988). Such arguments create
a danger that the jury may convict for reasons other than the evidence. State v. .
Ramos, 164 Wn. App. 327, 338, 263 P.3d 1268 (2011). Garrido claims that the
prosecutor inflamed the passions and prejudices of the jury during the cross-
examination of Dr. Gerlock by asking whether she was aware that Hassan is
Black. BLJt this question did not occur durihg the second trial that resulted in
Garrido’s conviction. During Garrido’s first trial, the court sustained a defense
objection on the ground that the question was argUmentative and cumulative but
denied the defense’s motion to dismiss on this basis. The prosecutor did not
repeat the question during cross-examination of Dr. Gerlock in the second trial.

Garrido next argues that the prosecutor “committed character
assassination” during closing by arguing that his failure to call 911 after the -
shooting showed that he was dishonest and knew what he did was wrong.
Garrido further asserts that these arguments were in “direct conflict of the right to

silence under the Fifth Amendment.” We disagree. A prosecutor has wide latitude
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to draw reasonable inferences from the evidence during closing argument.
Thorgerson, 172 Wn.2d at 448. Here, it is undisputed that Garrido did not call
911, so his failure to call does not implicate his Fifth Amendment right to silence.

See State v. Escalante, 195 Wn.2d 526, 529, 461 P.3d 1183 (2020) (Fifth

Amendment protects the right to be free from compelled self-incrimination).
Instead, the prosecutor properly argued that Garrido’s failure to call 911
demonstrated that Garrido’s version of events was not credible and that he acted
with consciousness of guilt.

Garrido also argues that the prosecutor “improperly acted as a witness
and juror” during closing by arguing that he was being untruthful. “A prosecutor
may comment on a withess'’s veracity as long as a personal opinion is not
expressed and as long as the comments are not intended to incite the passion of
the jury.” State v. Rodriguez-Perez, 1 Wn. App. 2d 448, 460, 406 P.3d 658
(2017). “Prejudicial error does not occur until such time as it is clear and
unmistakable that counsel is not arguing an inference from the evidence, but is

expressing a personal opinion.” State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 54, 134 P.3d

221 (2006) (quoting State v. Papadopoulos, 34 Wn. App. 397, 400, 662 P.2d 59
(1983)). Here, the prosecutor did not express his personal opinion as to Garrido’s
veracity or guilt; rather, he responded to Garrido’s self-defense claim by arguing
from the evidence that Garrido’s version of events was not credible.

We remand to the trial court to strike the VPA from Garrido’s sentence.

Otherwise, we affirm his conviction.
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WE CONCUR:

/
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